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OVERVIEW 

On February 10, 2021, a local historic landmark designation application was submitted for the 
Axford House at 4705 5th Avenue North (“the subject property”) by John Evans and Michael 
Labbe, the property’s owners. Following an analysis of the subject property, its contextual 
history, and extant conditions, staff concurs that the subject property is eligible for inclusion in 
the St. Petersburg Register of Historic Places as a local historic landmark. 

STAFF FINDINGS 

In St. Petersburg, such eligibility is determined based on evaluations of age, context, and integrity 
under a two-part test as found in Section 16.30.070.2.5(D) of the City Code. Under the first test, 
historic documentation demonstrates that the Axford House was constructed approximately 80 
years ago, surpassing the minimum required age of 50. Further, staff finds that the subject 
property satisfies criteria D, E, and F. Under the second test, staff finds that six factors of integrity 
are met. 

Historic Significance and Satisfaction of Eligibility Criteria 

The first portion of the two-part test to determine eligibility for the St. Petersburg Register of 
Historic Places examines a resource’s historic significance with relation to nine criteria. One or 
more of these criteria must be met in order for a property to qualify for designation as an 
individual landmark or district to be placed in the St. Petersburg Register. The nine criteria are 
based on the National Park Service’s criteria for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, 
and are designed to assess resources’ importance in a given historic context with objectivity and 
comprehensiveness. In the case of the Dr. W. Homer and Mrs. Ethel M. Axford House, staff has 
determined that the property satisfies the St. Petersburg Register criteria as follows. 

Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met? 

A B C D E F G H I 

- - - Yes Yes Yes - - - 

D) It is identified as the work of a master builder, designer, or architect whose individual work has 
influenced the development of the City, state, or nation;  

E) Its value as a building is recognized for the quality of its architecture, and it retains sufficient 
elements showing its architectural significance; and 

F) It has distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, 
method of construction, or use of indigenous materials;  

The Dr. W. Homer and Mrs. Ethel M. Axford House is significant in the area of architecture as a 
later example of the work of Cade Allen, a St. Petersburg builder who aimed to construct “The 
Highest High-Grade Development in St. Petersburg.” The form of the Axford House shows the 
evolution and flexibility in Allen's designs and an approach to a more modern layout. In a column 
published in 1940 in the St. Petersburg Times, Allen wrote, 
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Few elements in life have so universal an appeal as the homes in which we live, or the 
house we hope to build. Size has little relative to our interest. Whether we need a five-
room cottage or a 20-room mansion, the same care should be taken in choosing the 
materials. For either will be home and that home should have a charm all its own; a place 
of beauty and friendliness, where the family will love to be together and the children will 
be glad to bring their friends.1 

The Axford House was constructed in 1941, later in Cade Allen's career. It represents a 
transitional shift from the two-story houses, often inspired by traditional American values and 
early architecture, towards the more modern ranch-style house that was predominantly one-
story, close to the ground, and featured an open floor plan. The Axford House does feature an 
early example of an open floor plan, as the house is centered around a large living room. The 
house does not feature a separate formal dining room, but a small dinette area that is open to 
the living room. Both bedrooms are accessed from the central living room. Still classic details and 
materials of Allen were incorporated – hollow block tile construction, tile roof, stone veneer, and 
use of high-quality materials. 

It is difficult to classify the Axford House with a singular architectural style, as Allen drew from a 
number of styles. His approach to architectural eclecticism has become iconic to St. Petersburg 
in its own rite. Homes constructed in his Allendale subdivision were required to have tile or 
masonry structures and stone or stucco exteriors. His style was practical yet grand, playful yet 
solid. The Axford House incorporates an early ranch-style form with modern details and finishes, 
but also utilizes materials commonly associated with Mediterranean Revival structures, such as 
the heavy barrel tile roof, the shouldered arches in the front porch, and the stucco exterior. 
Though he did not practice within the confines of a defined academic style, Cade Allen’s homes 
have, indeed, achieved the timelessness that he advertised: it is likely that many residents of St. 
Petersburg would be able to identify the Axford House as an Allen design, even if not by name. 

Historic Integrity 

Under the second part of the two-part assessment of eligibility for designation as a historic 
landscape, staff finds that the Axford House retains integrity in six of seven given criteria, 
surpassing the requirement of one or more. 

Location 

The Axford House has not been moved. 

 

1 Allen, Cade B., "Plan Well Your New Home," St. Petersburg Times. June 16, 1940. 

Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met? 

Location Design Setting Materials Workmanship Feeling* Association* 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No 
*Must be present in addition to at least one other factor. 
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Design 

With the exception of several relatively small additions the Axford House retains its historic 
footprint. It further retains the historic fenestration pattern, roofline, and stone exterior surface 
that so strongly define its unique aesthetic. 

Setting 

The Axford House is located in the Central Oak Park neighborhood, an area that was platted in 
1924 but was developed primarily after the Great Depression and the Second World War. 

Materials and Workmanship 

The Axford House’s exterior, including the stone veneer and historic wood windows, appear to 
be in remarkably good condition, due in no small part to the applicants, who purchased the 
subject property in 2002 and meticulously maintained the property. 

Feeling and Association 

As noted in the discussion of significance above, the Axford House has retained its distinct 
appearance and serves as a reminder of Cade Allen’s unique contribution to St. Petersburg’s 
architectural heritage. 

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 

Narrative Description 

The subject property is a one-story single-family house with an U-shaped footprint. The house is 
situated on three lots with large front, side, and rear setbacks. This appears to be part of the 
design, as a lush landscaping program of trees, flowering shrubs, and grass was designed to 
create scenic views. The grounds were also designed with a service yard.2 

The house's primary roof 
structure is hipped. Utilizing 
barrel tile roof, the main roof 
features boxed eaves, but the 
garage has exposed ornate rafter 
tails. The heavy tile roof adds 
texture to the mostly smooth 
stuccoed building. 

The most distinguishable feature 
of the Axford House, like many of 
Cade Allen’s designs, is the 
distinct appearance of its exterior 
treatment around the house's 

 

2 Blackstone, Lillian, "Little Visits to St. Petersburg Homes," St. Petersburg Times. April 5, 1942. 

The front entrance of the Axford House. 
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entrance. In the subject property’s case, this exterior is clad with a gray stone veneer that is 
applied in a random ashlar pattern. This exterior surface is a veneer applied over hollow clay tile, 
a method of construction that is commonly 
found in Cade Allen’s homes. Along the front 
façade, the stone is continuous and extends 
smoothly from the porch flooring to the 
roofline. The rest of the house is cladded with 
stucco. 

The windows are double-hung wood sash, with 
two-over-two configurations. The windows 
utilize horizontal windowpanes, a style of 
window more common to the 1940s era of 
construction. The front living room, which 
faces 5th Avenue, also incorporates a large 
picture window. In general, the frames 
surrounding the windows are minimal in 
design, another hallmark of the transition 
towards modern design. 

The front entrance contains a large open patio that leads to a single-action wooden door with a 
wrought iron gate, a common feature of Cade Allen structures. Tile covers the front patio's 
flooring and front steps. The eastern side of the front of the house featured a screen-in front 
porch with shouldered arch details, which would have been accessed from the front patio and 
the large central living room. At some point, the front porch was enclosed with windows that 
match the rest of the house.  

The house was built with a breezeway that 
connected the main living space of the house 
to a garage and a maid's room. Over time, the 
breezeway was fully enclosed and 
incorporated into living space. 

Historical Context 

The following historical context was prepared 
by staff Historic Preservationist Kimberly 
Hinder as supporting documentation for the 
designation of the Cade Allen Residence (HPC 
Case No. 14-90300001) as a local historic 
landmark in 2014.  

St. Petersburg originated with the purchase 
of land by John C. Williams in 1876 and the 
arrival of the Orange Belt Railroad in 1888. 

Detail of masonry exterior and windows. 

Enclosed front porch with shouldered arch detail. 
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Orange Belt owner, Peter Demens, built 
the narrow gauge railroad to connect to 
land situated on the eastern edge of the 
Pinellas peninsula owned by John C. 
Williams. The first train arrived in June 
1888 to a settlement with little more 
than a store and a few residences. 
Demens and Williams collaborated in 
their plans to build a new community 
around the terminus of the railroad, 
complete with a park, depot, and hotel. 
In exchange for naming the city after 
Demens’ birthplace, St. Petersburg, 
Russia, the hotel was named after Williams’ hometown, Detroit, Michigan. Prepared by Engineer 
A.L. Hunt and Draftsman G.A. Miller in August 1888, the Map of the Town of St. Petersburg was 
officially filed in April 1889 and revised in October 1889.3  

Utilizing Dr. Van Bibber’s endorsement of the Pinellas peninsula as the perfect location for a 
“Health City” at the 1885 annual convention of the American Medical Association, efforts to 
promote settlement gained momentum. The Orange Belt Railway offered seaside excursions to 
St. Petersburg in 1889. These excursions were one of the first concentrated efforts by the 
community and the development company to attract tourists.4  

Residents and developers seized the opportunity for publicity. Frank Davis, a prominent publisher 
from Philadelphia who arrived in Florida to alleviate his own health problems, utilized Van 
Bibber’s endorsement to heavily promote the benefits of St. Petersburg. Davis, along with other 
new residents including St. Petersburg Times editor William Straub and St. Petersburg Evening 
Independent editor Lew Brown, tirelessly promoted the community during the late 1800s and 
early 1900s.5 By 1890, the population grew from less than 50 prior to the arrival of the railroad 
to 273 residents with two hotels, two ice plants, two churches, a school, a pier, and a sawmill to 
serve the community. Following the incorporation of the city in 1892, utility services, including 
telephone, electric service, and public water, were introduced in the community. A severe freeze 
which destroyed the citrus groves throughout north and central Florida during the winter of 
1894-95 prompted many farmers to relocate to coastal areas, such as St. Petersburg, which did 
not experience a freeze as severe. Although the economy remained largely dependent on 
commercial fishing, tourism from winter visitors quickly grew in importance. During the early 

 

3 Raymond Arsenault, St. Petersburg and the Florida Dream 1888-1950 (Gainesville, FL: University Press of Florida, 
1996), 64, 81-81; Karl H. Griser, The Story of St. Petersburg and the History of the Lower Pinellas Peninsula and the 
Sunshine City (St. Petersburg, FL: P.K. Smith & Company, 1948), 68,74,271-272; Pinellas County Clerk of Circuit Court, 
Revised Map of St. Petersburg, Plat Book H1, 1890. 27, 49. 

4 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 62; Grismer, The Story of St. Petersburg, 70, 97, 111. 

5 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 82-85. 

St. Petersburg water front, postcard, ca. 1900. 



 CPPC Case No. 21-90300002 

 Page 6 

 

1900s, the creation of St. Petersburg’s waterfront park 
system, the incorporation of a trolley system, and the 
construction of the Electric Pier drew additional tourists and 
new residents to the area.6  

Largely through the efforts of city boosters to attract 
businesses and residents, developers such as C. Perry Snell, 
H. Walter Fuller, Noel Mitchell, Charles Hall, and Charles 
Roser, triggered the city’s first real estate land boom from 
1909 to the start of World War I.7 Promotional efforts by 
the Atlantic Coast Line railroad (created in 1902 from the 
former Orange Belt Railroad and Henry Plant’s South Florida 
Railroad) brought organized tourist trains from New York in 
1909 and from the Midwest in 1913. Many of these tourists 
continued to winter in the city with some even relocating to 
St. Petersburg.8  

Cade Allen came to St. Petersburg during the city’s first 
boom in 1911, later citing the promotional literature 
touting Dr. Van Bibber’s paper and the health benefits of 
the Pinellas peninsula as the enticement for relocation. A 
native of Lownanville, New York, Allen’s father passed away 
just after he completed the eighth grade, prompting him to 
go to work to help support the family. He became a brick 
mason, transitioning into building construction, and 
eventually real estate. He acquired land with high quality 
clay for brick manufacturing, selling the land to his brother-in-law, who developed the 
Binghamton Brick Yard in Binghamton, New York. With the proceeds, Allen and his mother, 
Jennie Vining Allen, came to St. Petersburg in 1911. Allen quickly established a real estate 
business utilizing penny postcards to advertise the business. Cade Allen, “The Man with the 
Bargains,” opened an office at 510 Central Avenue, where the Plaza Theater would soon be built. 
He was one of many new agents in the growing city. In 1912, real estate agents met at the Ridgely 
Real Estate Company office to form the St. Petersburg Board of Realtors. By 1914, approximately 
83 real estate companies operated in the city, capitalizing on the doubling of the local population 
during the winter season. These winter residents even formed tourist societies organized by state 
or region of origin which acted as booster clubs in their native states.9  

 

6 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 52-64, 81-82, 87-89. 

7 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 136. 

8 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 37, 144-145. 

9 Allen, A Life Remembered, 1-12; “Real Estate Men to Organize,” St. Petersburg Evening Independent, June 8, 1912; 
Arsenault, Florida Dream, 143-146. 

Postcard, courtesy of Burton Allen. 
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In 1912, Allen married his longtime Binghamton sweetheart, Eva Bennett, and brought her, along 
with his sister and brother-in-law, Floyd Riggs, to St. Petersburg. Allen continued his real estate 
business with his brother-in-law, opening an office at 73 7th Avenue North. In 1913, Allen built 
his first house in St. Petersburg for his family at present-day 145 7th Avenue Northeast, where he 
lived until 1916. In that year, he started purchasing land in Snell & Hamlett’s Crescent Lake 
Subdivision. One of the lots included the house at 1492 4th Street North, which he remodeled and 
moved into with his family.10  

The Crescent Lake Subdivision was one of the developments spearheaded by C. Perry Snell. Snell, 
who had arrived in St. Petersburg in 1904, proceeded to develop St. Petersburg’s earliest 
subdivisions including Bay Shore, North Shore, Lake Side, and Crescent Lake in conjunction with 
various partners. J.C. Hamlett, with whom he formed Snell and Hamlett Real Estate Company, 
purchased Crescent Lake, the land immediately surrounding it, and the area to the east of the 
lake in 1910. The land was transferred into the holdings of the company and subdivided into the 
Crescent Lake Addition. The new subdivision, filed in 1911, extended from 12th Avenue to 22nd 
Avenue North and from 4th Street to 7th Street North and included the area which would become 
Crescent Lake Park.11  

In spite of a number of successful projects, the increasingly risky ventures and business interests 
in other cities led Hamlett to dissolve the partnership in 1916 and transfer his interests to Snell 
over the following three years. Cade Allen assembled a section of this land roughly located 
between 13th and 17th Avenues and 4th and 5th Streets North. While still operating his real estate 
office, the decline in the market due to the onset of World War I led Allen to open a truck farm 
and dairy on his newly acquired land east of Crescent Lake.12  

The City’s administration started to formally encourage tourism with promotional campaigns 
following the election of Al Lang as mayor in 1916. Lang was elected after he arranged to bring 
the Philadelphia Phillies to the city for spring training. Under his leadership, the City publicly 
encouraged tourism and made efforts to improve the physical appearance of the city mandating 
that all of the benches in the city be painted green.13 Although the land boom collapsed during 
World War I, the development created a pattern for the future growth of the city.  During the 
1910s, the city’s population grew from 4,127 in 1910 to 14,237 in 1920.14  

Although World War I limited tourism, St. Petersburg quickly rebounded following the war with 
the winter season of 1918-1919 more profitable than before the war. Thanks in part to the efforts 

 

10 Allen, A Life Remembered, 12-30. 

11 Judy Lowe Wells, C. Perry Snell: His Place in St. Petersburg, Florida History (St. Petersburg, FL: privately printed by 
author, 2006), 40-41, 47, 58-60; Arsenault, Florida Dream, 137. 

12 Wells, C. Perry Snell, 40-41, 47, 58-60; Allen, A Life Remembered, 30. 

13 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 143-146. 

14 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 124, 190. 
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of John Lodwick, publicity agent for the Chamber of Commerce and the City of St. Petersburg, 
the hotels and boarding houses were filled to capacity during the season.15  

The construction of a national, state, and local road system opened St. Petersburg to an 
increasing number of middle-class vacationers as well as a new type of vacationer known as “tin-
can tourists.” This type of vacationer typically came by car and generally favored campgrounds 
to hotels. The city’s shortage of hotel rooms led to the 1920 creation of Tent City, a municipal 
campground for the “tin-can tourists.” This new type of tourist threatened the city’s established 
hotel industry and was not the class of visitor the leaders of the city were interested in 
attracting.16 With only five hotels providing fewer than 500 hotel rooms at the start of the boom, 
city leaders were encouraged by the construction of mid-sized hotels, such as the Alexander 
Hotel, the Mari-Jean, and the Hotel Cordova, and several large hotels, including the Princess 
Martha, Pennsylvania Hotel, and Vinoy Park Hotel, during the boom.17  

The lack of hotel space and the booming economy during the late 1910s and early 1920s 
prompted the conversion of a number of private residences immediately north of downtown into 
boarding houses, apartment buildings, or small hotels. Many owners in this once residential 
neighborhood north of downtown recognized the inevitable growth of the central business 
district and built new houses farther north of downtown in the newly opened residential sections 
now known as the Old Northeast, Round Lake, Uptown, Euclid/St. Paul, and Crescent Lake 
neighborhoods.18  

In 1919, Snell, who was a strong supporter of a public park system, convinced the City to purchase 
Crescent Lake and the surrounding 26 acres for a public park. Although the $30,000 would be 
paid in installments through 1928, the City started improvements to the park immediately 
including clearing brush around the lake, improving drainage, creating a municipal nursery, and 
installing a baseball field in 1925. Initially known as the Crescent Lake Baseball Park, the field was 
renamed the Huggins-Stengel Field and served as the training facility for the New York Yankees 
from 1925 through 1961. The new homes in the subdivision and park amenities drew residents 
to the Crescent Lake area during the boom. The opening of the Gandy Bridge to Tampa in 1924 
further encouraged widespread development and construction extending north of downtown to 
the bridge.19  

With the creation of Crescent Lake Park and the onset of the Florida Land Boom, Cade Allen 
decided to sell his cattle and return to the construction and real estate development field.  In 
1920, Allen opened a real estate office with Harold Smith at 430 Central Avenue. In 1922, the 
men purchased The Foster Grove, 135 acres formerly owned by William L. and Amanda Foster 

 

15 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 186-189. 

16 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 186-189. 

17 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 201. 

18 Sanborn Map Company, Sanborn Fire Insurance Map, 1923; Arsenault, Florida Dream, 199-200. 

19 Wells, C. Perry Snell, 40-41, 58-60; Sanborn, 1923; Arsenault, Florida Dream, 199-200. 
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located along Euclid Boulevard North (renamed 9th Street N. in 1928 and now Dr. M.L. King Jr. 
Street N).  Euclid Boulevard, labeled as such on Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps as early as 1918, 
was the northern extension of 9th Street situated north of 9th Avenue. The original development 
of the town had focused on the intersection of Central Avenue and 9th Street, making the street 
a major north-south corridor when new development spread north of the city in the late 1910s 
and 1920s. By the early 1920s, the streetcar line extended along 9th Street/Euclid Boulevard 
North to 34th Avenue, the southernmost boundary of the Allendale development, before turning 
east toward the North Shore development. Cade Allen moved his family into the former Foster 
residence just west of Euclid Boulevard and remodeled it (which now has an address of 3650 
Foster Hill Drive).20  

Allen and Smith retained engineer George F. Young to survey the land and, in 1923, filed the plat 
for Allendale Terrace. Extending from present-day 34th to 38th Avenues North and 7th Street to 
Haines Road, the subdivision incorporated a five-acre public park and soon featured brick streets, 
granite curbs, and hexagon block sidewalks. Soon after, Allen bought Smith’s interest in the 
subdivision, and moved his real estate office to 3649 Haines Road. In 1924, a new plat, Blocks 7-
13 of Allendale Terrace Subdivision, was filed for the area north of the original plat extending 
from 7th Street to Euclid Blvd. and from 38th to 42nd Avenues North. Two years later, in 1926, the 
final plat, designated as the Northwest Quarter of Allendale Terrace, was filed covering the area 
from Euclid Boulevard to Haines Road and from 38th to 42nd Avenues North. Like the first plat, 
the two later plats were drawn by the office of George F. Young, Civil and Landscape Engineers. 

 

20 Allen, A Life Remembered, 30, 38-39; Sanborn Map Company, Sanborn Fire Insurance Map, 1918. 

Allendale Terrace plat. PCCCC, Plat Book 4, Page 66. 
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Deed restrictions limited development to one residence, to cost no less than $10,000, and be 
constructed in the “Spanish, Grecian, Moorish, Mission, Italian, Colonial or English types of 
architecture.” Houses had to be built of masonry with at least one room on the second floor or a 
high ceiling to give the appearance of a second story. As owner of the subdivision, he made all 
new construction subject to his review and approval of building plans. Apartment buildings and 
stores were prohibited.21  

The first new home built in the neighborhood was located at 3410 Euclid Boulevard North. 
Constructed of coquina rock quarried on Florida’s east coast, the house was an unusual 
Mediterranean Revival style built of stone, tile, and stucco, a mixture which would characterize 
most of Allen’s future construction. Across Euclid Boulevard, Allen completed a new house for 
his family which was located at 3405 Euclid Boulevard North, but the family lived in it for only 
about a year.22  

In 1924, Allen initiated construction on another new house for his family located at 3600 Euclid 
Boulevard North, which is the subject property (now with the address of 3601 Foster Hill Drive). 
It was the third of six Allendale homes that the Allen family eventually occupied. When 
constructed, it had six or seven rooms on the first floor and four bedrooms and three baths on 
the second floor with an attached garage. Living quarters above the garage housed Mr. and Mrs. 
Warren Hodges and their son, who worked for the Allens. Warren Hodges wrote his name with 
the date of February 14, 1925 in the concrete driveway, possibly the date that the house was 
substantially completed. During this period, Cade and Eva Allen, along with five other residents, 
met in the Allen home and established the Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church. The eighth, 
and final, child of Cade and Eva Allen was born in the house in November 1926. According to the 
Allen family, the projecting granite stones at the corners of the house made for an afternoon of 
fun “mountain climbing” to the second floor porch and roof. This ever present danger to her 
children prompted Eva Allen to want to relocate. So Cade Allen built another new house at 944 

 

21 Allen, A Life Remembered, 38; PCCC, Revised Map, Plat Book 4 - Page 66, Plat Book 7 – Page 18.  

22 Allen, A Life Remembered, 38-41. 

3600 Euclid Boulevard North (now 3601 Foster Hill Drive North), 1926. Courtesy of Burton Allen. 
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39th Avenue North for his family in 1928, where they lived until 1947. During the 1920s, Allen had 
built 22 homes as well as the Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church.23  

A relatively healthy tourist trade initially kept the local economy afloat following the downturn 
of the real estate market in 1926 and the devastating hurricanes which damaged south Florida in 
1926 and 1928. However, the crash of the stock market in 1929 kept the traveling public at home 
during the ensuing national depression. A dismal tourist season during the winter of 1929-1930 
led to business failures, mortgage foreclosures, and unemployment in the city. Every bank in the 
city failed and closed by April 1931.24  

In January 1928, real estate salesmen and auctioneers McLean-Rector & Scott advertised 3600 
Euclid Boulevard North as the “Palatial Graystone Mansion” offering the “’Ultimate in Residential 
Perfection.”25 The agents reported that several thousand visited during a week-long open house 
in which the home was presented as a “model of modern building construction and furnishing.”26 
With the decline in the real estate market, the house was still on the market the following year 
but was briefly occupied by auctioneer Victor McLean of McLean-Rector & Scott. The house 

 

23 Allen, A Life Remembered, 41-46. 

24 Arsenault, Florida Dream, 253-255. 

25 “Our Public Reception,” St. Petersburg Evening Independent, January 17, 1928. 

26 “Thousands visit model residence,” St. Petersburg Times, January 19, 1928. 

Advertisement. St. Petersburg Times, February 11, 1929. 
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finally sold at auction in February 1929. Attorney and future judge Mervin Hilton lived in the 
home in 1930 and 1931.27  

By 1932, William Halls, Jr. and his wife, Hattie, owned the residence. The New York banker had 
bought a winter residence at 1028 14th Avenue North in 1927. In 1933 and 1934, their local 
attorney, Walter Wilson, rented 3600 9th Street North. After William Halls died in 1933, it appears 
that his widow Hattie Halls owned the house and may have periodically lived in the house or 
rented it to widow Edith Byron from 1937 through 1945. The house was advertised for sale in 
1945.28  

Federal relief projects helped revive the local economy by the mid-1930s. Local projects included 
the construction of Bay Pines Veterans’ Hospital, an addition to Albert Whitted Airport, Bartlett 
Park, an addition to Mound Park City Hospital, a beach water system, a new city hall, the 
construction of the U.S. Coast Guard Air Station near Bayboro Harbor, the North Shore sewer 
system, a National Guard armory, and a new campus for the St. Petersburg Junior College. By 
providing these kinds of projects throughout the nation, the New Deal agencies brought partial 
economic recovery to residents of St. Petersburg as well as other cities.  With an improved 
financial outlook, tourists returned to St. Petersburg during the late-1930s.29  

During the 1930s, Cade Allen continued to live in and develop the Allendale neighborhood.  
Unlike many developers who went bust in the decline of the real estate market and Great 
Depression, Cade Allen managed his development well, installing streets and improvements 
without encumbering the land. As a result, he retained ownership of the parcels, sold a few, and 
continued to build during the 1930s even though money was tight.30 Between 1930 and 1932, 
Allen completed seven and sold eight homes in Allendale Terrace. At the height of the 
Depression, however, he only completed and sold two homes from 1932 to 1936. As construction 
resumed between 1937 and 1940, he built 16 homes.31  

Due to a doctrinal disagreement, Allen left Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church and joined 
Central Presbyterian Church, where he built the new Sunday school class rooms in 1938.  As his 
sons finished school, they also joined the business, and the company became Cade B. Allen & 
Sons, Designers and Builders. With the onset of World War II, all five of Cade Allen’s sons joined 
the military. Due to gasoline rationing and limited building materials, little new construction 
occurred during the war, but Cade Allen managed to keep his real estate office open.32  

Although tourism had rebounded to some extent by 1940, the activation of the military, 
rationing, and travel restrictions of World War II severely curtailed St. Petersburg’s tourism based 

 

27 “Mervin B. Hilton,” St. Petersburg Times, April 3, 1940. 

28 “Home in City Sold for Cash,” St. Petersburg Times, May 15, 1927. 

29 Arsenault, Florida Dreams, 257-260. 

30 Fuller, 203; Miller, “Houses, Family Built on Solid Foundation,” St. Petersburg Times, March 4, 1991. 

31 Allen, Homes, 16. 

32 Allen, A Life Remembered, 48-52. 
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economy. Most of the city’s hotels and boarding houses remained empty during the winter of 
1941-42. Realizing that the empty rooms could be an asset as military housing, city leaders 
successfully lobbied the War Department for a military base. The opening of a technical services 
training center for the Army Air Corps brought over ten thousand soldiers to the city during the 
summer of 1942. The military leased almost every major hotel and many of the smaller hotels in 
the city. Only the Suwannee Hotel and some of the smaller hotels and boarding houses were 
open to civilian use. By the time the training center closed in July 1943, over 100,000 soldiers had 
visited St. Petersburg. Although the training center closed, the United States Maritime Service 
Bayboro Harbor Base, which trained merchant seamen, continued to grow, and eventually leased 
four of the downtown hotels abandoned by the Army Air Corps. Other bases and support facilities 
throughout the area brought thousands of soldiers to central Florida and the St. Petersburg 
area.33  

The city rapidly demilitarized following the war, and many veterans returned to St. Petersburg. 
Among those returning, the Allen sons rejoined Cade B. Allen & Sons, which now offered “A 
Complete Home Building Service.”34 The Great Depression and governmental restrictions during 
the war led to a housing shortage following World War II.  Many hotels and boarding houses were 
again filled with tourists and new residents awaiting the construction of new homes. In 1957, 
Cade Allen retired and passed the family business over to his sons. He died in 1959. 

Throughout the 1950s and 1960s in St. Petersburg, new houses filled the subdivisions platted 
during the 1920s, but left vacant by the real estate decline and the Great Depression. As 
development spread westward, the introduction of shopping centers, including Central Plaza and 
Tyrone Gardens Shopping Center, and motels along the west coast drew new residents and 
tourists away from downtown St. Petersburg.35 During the 1960s, downtown and the 
neighborhoods surrounding the city core entered a period of decline and abandonment. Many 
of the buildings associated with the early history of the community slowly deteriorated until 
reinvestment and preservation revived the area during the 1990s.  

Subject Property Background 

The subject property is located in the neighborhood now known as Central Oak Park. The area 
was first platted in 1924 as No. 4 of the Oak Ridge development, an area developed by Percy A. 
Page.36 Page was the son of prominent Virginia real estate mogul Herman Lawrence Page.37 The 
Page family began wintering in St. Petersburg in the early 1920s. Unfortunately, like many other 
neighborhoods first platted during the 1920s land boom, Oak Ridge was sparsely developed until 

 

33 Arsenault, Florida Dreams, 298-301. 

34 Allen, A Life Remembered, 53. 

35 Arsenault, Florida Dreams, 307-313. 

36 "Percy A. Page Dies in Virginia," St. Petersburg Times. August 6, 1946. 

37 National Register Nomination of Dulwich Manor, 2013. 
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after the Great Depression, when St. Petersburg experienced its second building boom during 
the mid-20th century. 

The property appears to have remained vacant until 1941, when Dr. William Homer Axford and 
Ethel Murphy Axford hired Cade Allen and Sons to construct a new house at 4705 5th Ave N. This 
is one of only a dozen or so homes built by Cade Allen outside of Allendale.38 

Born in 1874, W. Homer Axford was a medical doctor and a pioneer in X-ray technology. He also 
served as mayor of Bayonne, New Jersey from 1919 to 1923 and then Director of Public Affairs 
until his retirement in 1930 due to health issues.39 

The Axfords spent six winter seasons in St. Petersburg before moving down full time because of 
Dr. Axford's ill health.40 Unfortunately, Dr. Axford only lived in the house for six months until his 
death on September 17, 1942. He was only 68 years old. Ethel Axford remained in their home 
until her death at age 82 on June 6, 1960. 

Subsequent owner J. Earle Brown constructed a flat-roofed carport onto the side of the existing 
garage in the rear yard in 1961, which was enclosed by the following owner Willard Russell in 
1965. This alteration is considered to be non-contributing to the property’s historic significance, 
but are nonetheless relatively set back from the subject property’s façade and do not detract 
from the historic design. 

Primary Character-Defining Features 

• One story, U-shaped main massing with an enclosed breezeway attachment to garage, 

• House situated among spacious greenspace with large setbacks to create scenic views, 

• Modified ranch style home with barrel tile roof, 

• Low-pitched hipped roof, 

• Open front patio with large picture window, 

• Boxed eaves on main house and exposed decorative rafter tails on garage, 

• Entryway with tiled steps and flooring, single-action wood door with decorative wrought 
iron gate, 

• Stuccoed masonry walls with entryway with gray stone veneer exterior applied in a 
random ashlar pattern, 

• Crab orchard sandstone chimney and fireplace with surrounding niches for candlesticks, 

• Double-hung wood windows with horizontal two-over-two lights, 

• Shouldered arched fenestrations in enclosed front porch, 

• Tiled windowsills with curved walls, 

• Wood flooring and cove ceilings, and 

• Bathrooms with original pink and blue tile, fixtures, and consoles. 

 

38 Allen, Burton L. Homes by Cade Bush Allen. 2013 

39 "Dr. William H. Axford, Former Resident, Dies," The Courier-News. September 19, 1942. 

40 Blackstone, Lillian, "Little Visits to St. Petersburg Homes," St. Petersburg Times. April 5, 1942. 
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Alterations 

The subject property retains remarkable historic integrity, however, all buildings evolve 
somewhat over time. The front porch on the eastern portion of the house was enclosed at an 
unknown date. Even though it was enclosed, the windows added match the existing two-over-
two windows, so the visual impact is minimal. The subject property is able to convey its historic 
significance despite these minor changes. 

PROPERTY OWNER CONSENT AND IMPACT OF DESIGNATION 

The proposed local landmark designation was submitted and is supported by the subject 
property’s owners, John Evans and Michael Labbe.  

The benefits of designation include increased heritage tourism through the maintenance of the 
historic character and significance of the city, some relief from the requirements of the Florida 
Building Code and FEMA regulations, and tax incentives, such as the local ad valorem tax 
exemption and federal tax credit for qualified rehabilitation projects. The owners intend to take 
advantage of the ad valorem tax exemption for an upcoming rehabilitation project. 

CONSISTENCY WITH ST. PETERSBURG’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, EXISTING LAND USE PLAN, AND 
FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 

The proposed local historic landmark designation is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan, relating to the protection, use and adaptive reuse of historic buildings. The local landmark 
designation will not affect the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) or zoning designations, nor will it 
significantly constrain any existing or future plans for the development of the City. The proposed 
landmark designation is consistent with the following objectives: 

Objective LU10:  The historic resources locally designated by the St. Petersburg City Council and 
Community Planning and Preservation Commission (CPPC) shall be 
incorporated onto the Land Use Map or map series at the time of original 
adoption, or through the amendment process, and protected from 
development and redevelopment activities consistent with the provisions of 
the Historic Preservation Element and the Historic Preservation Ordinance. 

Policy LU10.1:  Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on the 
criteria and policies outlined in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and the 
Historic Preservation Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Policy HP2.3:  The City shall provide technical assistance to applications for designation of 
historic structures and districts.  

Policy HP2.6:  Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on 
National Register eligibility criteria and policies outlined in the Historic 
Preservation Ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan. The City will use the 
following selection criteria [for city initiated landmark designations] as a 
guideline for staff recommendations to the CPC and City Council: 

• National Register or DOE status 
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• Prominence/importance related to the City 
• Prominence/importance related to the neighborhood 
• Degree of threat to the landmark 
• Condition of the landmark 
• Degree of owner support 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the request to designate the Axford House, located at 4705 5th 
Avenue North, as a local historic landmark, thereby referring the application to City Council for 
first and second reading and public hearing.  
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	OVERVIEW


	On February 10, 2021, a local historic landmark designation application was submitted for the

Axford House at 4705 5th Avenue North (“the subject property”) by John Evans and Michael

Labbe, the property’s owners. Following an analysis of the subject property, its contextual

history, and extant conditions, staff concurs that the subject property is eligible for inclusion in

the St. Petersburg Register of Historic Places as a local historic landmark.


	STAFF FINDINGS


	In St. Petersburg, such eligibility is determined based on evaluations of age, context, and integrity

under a two-part test as found in Section 16.30.070.2.5(D) of the City Code. Under the first test,

historic documentation demonstrates that the Axford House was constructed approximately 80

years ago, surpassing the minimum required age of 50. Further, staff finds that the subject

property satisfies criteria D, E, and F. Under the second test, staff finds that six factors of integrity

are met.


	Historic Significance and Satisfaction of Eligibility Criteria


	The first portion of the two-part test to determine eligibility for the St. Petersburg Register of

Historic Places examines a resource’s historic significance with relation to nine criteria. One or

more of these criteria must be met in order for a property to qualify for designation as an

individual landmark or district to be placed in the St. Petersburg Register. The nine criteria are

based on the National Park Service’s criteria for listing in the National Register of Historic Places,

and are designed to assess resources’ importance in a given historic context with objectivity and

comprehensiveness. In the case of the Dr. W. Homer and Mrs. Ethel M. Axford House, staff has

determined that the property satisfies the St. Petersburg Register criteria as follows.


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?





	A 
	A 
	A 
	A 

	B 
	B 
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	Yes 
	Yes 
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	Yes 
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	Yes 
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	- 

	- 
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	-


	-






	D) It is identified as the work of a master builder, designer, or architect whose individual work has

influenced the development of the City, state, or nation;


	E) Its value as a building is recognized for the quality of its architecture, and it retains sufficient

elements showing its architectural significance; and


	F) It has distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period,

method of construction, or use of indigenous materials;


	The Dr. W. Homer and Mrs. Ethel M. Axford House is significant in the area of architecture as a

later example of the work of Cade Allen, a St. Petersburg builder who aimed to construct “The

Highest High-Grade Development in St. Petersburg.” The form of the Axford House shows the

evolution and flexibility in Allen's designs and an approach to a more modern layout. In a column

published in 1940 in the St. Petersburg Times, Allen wrote,
	Few elements in life have so universal an appeal as the homes in which we live, or the

house we hope to build. Size has little relative to our interest. Whether we need a five�room cottage or a 20-room mansion, the same care should be taken in choosing the

materials. For either will be home and that home should have a charm all its own; a place

of beauty and friendliness, where the family will love to be together and the children will

be glad to bring their friends.1


	1 Allen, Cade B., "Plan Well Your New Home," St. Petersburg Times. June 16, 1940.


	1 Allen, Cade B., "Plan Well Your New Home," St. Petersburg Times. June 16, 1940.



	The Axford House was constructed in 1941, later in Cade Allen's career. It represents a

transitional shift from the two-story houses, often inspired by traditional American values and

early architecture, towards the more modern ranch-style house that was predominantly one�story, close to the ground, and featured an open floor plan. The Axford House does feature an

early example of an open floor plan, as the house is centered around a large living room. The

house does not feature a separate formal dining room, but a small dinette area that is open to

the living room. Both bedrooms are accessed from the central living room. Still classic details and

materials of Allen were incorporated – hollow block tile construction, tile roof, stone veneer, and

use of high-quality materials.


	It is difficult to classify the Axford House with a singular architectural style, as Allen drew from a

number of styles. His approach to architectural eclecticism has become iconic to St. Petersburg

in its own rite. Homes constructed in his Allendale subdivision were required to have tile or

masonry structures and stone or stucco exteriors. His style was practical yet grand, playful yet

solid. The Axford House incorporates an early ranch-style form with modern details and finishes,

but also utilizes materials commonly associated with Mediterranean Revival structures, such as

the heavy barrel tile roof, the shouldered arches in the front porch, and the stucco exterior.

Though he did not practice within the confines of a defined academic style, Cade Allen’s homes

have, indeed, achieved the timelessness that he advertised: it is likely that many residents of St.

Petersburg would be able to identify the Axford House as an Allen design, even if not by name.


	Historic Integrity


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?
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	Design 
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	Setting 
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	Workmanship 
	Workmanship 
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	Yes 
	Yes 
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	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	No


	No




	*Must be present in addition to at least one other factor.
	*Must be present in addition to at least one other factor.
	*Must be present in addition to at least one other factor.




	Under the second part of the two-part assessment of eligibility for designation as a historic

landscape, staff finds that the Axford House retains integrity in six of seven given criteria,

surpassing the requirement of one or more.


	Location


	The Axford House has not been moved.


	Design


	With the exception of several relatively small additions the Axford House retains its historic

footprint. It further retains the historic fenestration pattern, roofline, and stone exterior surface

that so strongly define its unique aesthetic.


	Setting


	The Axford House is located in the Central Oak Park neighborhood, an area that was platted in

1924 but was developed primarily after the Great Depression and the Second World War.


	Materials and Workmanship


	The Axford House’s exterior, including the stone veneer and historic wood windows, appear to

be in remarkably good condition, due in no small part to the applicants, who purchased the

subject property in 2002 and meticulously maintained the property.


	Feeling and Association


	As noted in the discussion of significance above, the Axford House has retained its distinct

appearance and serves as a reminder of Cade Allen’s unique contribution to St. Petersburg’s

architectural heritage.


	NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND


	Narrative Description


	The subject property is a one-story single-family house with an U-shaped footprint. The house is

situated on three lots with large front, side, and rear setbacks. This appears to be part of the

design, as a lush landscaping program of trees, flowering shrubs, and grass was designed to

create scenic views. The grounds were also designed with a service yard.2


	2 Blackstone, Lillian, "Little Visits to St. Petersburg Homes," St. Petersburg Times. April 5, 1942.


	2 Blackstone, Lillian, "Little Visits to St. Petersburg Homes," St. Petersburg Times. April 5, 1942.



	The house's primary roof

structure is hipped. Utilizing

barrel tile roof, the main roof

features boxed eaves, but the

garage has exposed ornate rafter

tails. The heavy tile roof adds

texture to the mostly smooth

stuccoed building.
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	The 
	The 
	The 
	front entrance of the 
	Axford House
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	The most distinguishable feature

of the Axford House, like many of

Cade Allen’s designs, is the

distinct appearance of its exterior

treatment around the house's


	entrance. In the subject property’s case, this exterior is clad with a gray stone veneer that is

applied in a random ashlar pattern. This exterior surface is a veneer applied over hollow clay tile,

a method of construction that is commonly

found in Cade Allen’s homes. Along the front

façade, the stone is continuous and extends

smoothly from the porch flooring to the

roofline. The rest of the house is cladded with

stucco.


	Figure
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	Detail of masonry exterior and windows
	Detail of masonry exterior and windows
	Detail of masonry exterior and windows
	.


	 



	The windows are double-hung wood sash, with

two-over-two configurations. The windows

utilize horizontal windowpanes, a style of

window more common to the 1940s era of

construction. The front living room, which

faces 5th Avenue, also incorporates a large

picture window. In general, the frames

surrounding the windows are minimal in

design, another hallmark of the transition

towards modern design.


	The front entrance contains a large open patio that leads to a single-action wooden door with a

wrought iron gate, a common feature of Cade Allen structures. Tile covers the front patio's

flooring and front steps. The eastern side of the front of the house featured a screen-in front

porch with shouldered arch details, which would have been accessed from the front patio and

the large central living room. At some point, the front porch was enclosed with windows that

match the rest of the house.


	The house was built with a breezeway that

connected the main living space of the house

to a garage and a maid's room. Over time, the

breezeway was fully enclosed and

incorporated into living space.
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	Enclosed front porch with 
	shouldered arch detail.
	 



	Historical Context


	The following historical context was prepared

by staff Historic Preservationist Kimberly

Hinder as supporting documentation for the

designation of the Cade Allen Residence (HPC

Case No. 14-90300001) as a local historic

landmark in 2014.


	St. Petersburg originated with the purchase

of land by John C. Williams in 1876 and the

arrival of the Orange Belt Railroad in 1888.


	Orange Belt owner, Peter Demens, built

the narrow gauge railroad to connect to

land situated on the eastern edge of the

Pinellas peninsula owned by John C.

Williams. The first train arrived in June

1888 to a settlement with little more

than a store and a few residences.

Demens and Williams collaborated in

their plans to build a new community

around the terminus of the railroad,

complete with a park, depot, and hotel.

In exchange for naming the city after

Demens’ birthplace, St. Petersburg,

Russia, the hotel was named after Williams’ hometown, Detroit, Michigan. Prepared by Engineer

A.L. Hunt and Draftsman G.A. Miller in August 1888, the Map of the Town of St. Petersburg was

officially filed in April 1889 and revised in October 1889.3


	Figure
	Figure
	Span
	St. Petersburg water front, postcard, ca. 1900.
	St. Petersburg water front, postcard, ca. 1900.
	St. Petersburg water front, postcard, ca. 1900.
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	Utilizing Dr. Van Bibber’s endorsement of the Pinellas peninsula as the perfect location for a

“Health City” at the 1885 annual convention of the American Medical Association, efforts to

promote settlement gained momentum. The Orange Belt Railway offered seaside excursions to

St. Petersburg in 1889. These excursions were one of the first concentrated efforts by the

community and the development company to attract tourists.4


	Residents and developers seized the opportunity for publicity. Frank Davis, a prominent publisher

from Philadelphia who arrived in Florida to alleviate his own health problems, utilized Van

Bibber’s endorsement to heavily promote the benefits of St. Petersburg. Davis, along with other

new residents including St. Petersburg Times editor William Straub and St. Petersburg Evening

Independent editor Lew Brown, tirelessly promoted the community during the late 1800s and

early 1900s.5 By 1890, the population grew from less than 50 prior to the arrival of the railroad

to 273 residents with two hotels, two ice plants, two churches, a school, a pier, and a sawmill to

serve the community. Following the incorporation of the city in 1892, utility services, including

telephone, electric service, and public water, were introduced in the community. A severe freeze

which destroyed the citrus groves throughout north and central Florida during the winter of

1894-95 prompted many farmers to relocate to coastal areas, such as St. Petersburg, which did

not experience a freeze as severe. Although the economy remained largely dependent on

commercial fishing, tourism from winter visitors quickly grew in importance. During the early


	1900s, the creation of St. Petersburg’s waterfront park

system, the incorporation of a trolley system, and the

construction of the Electric Pier drew additional tourists and

new residents to the area.6
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	Largely through the efforts of city boosters to attract

businesses and residents, developers such as C. Perry Snell,

H. Walter Fuller, Noel Mitchell, Charles Hall, and Charles

Roser, triggered the city’s first real estate land boom from

1909 to the start of World War I.7 Promotional efforts by

the Atlantic Coast Line railroad (created in 1902 from the

former Orange Belt Railroad and Henry Plant’s South Florida

Railroad) brought organized tourist trains from New York in

1909 and from the Midwest in 1913. Many of these tourists

continued to winter in the city with some even relocating to

St. Petersburg.8


	Cade Allen came to St. Petersburg during the city’s first

boom in 1911, later citing the promotional literature

touting Dr. Van Bibber’s paper and the health benefits of

the Pinellas peninsula as the enticement for relocation. A

native of Lownanville, New York, Allen’s father passed away

just after he completed the eighth grade, prompting him to

go to work to help support the family. He became a brick

mason, transitioning into building construction, and

eventually real estate. He acquired land with high quality

clay for brick manufacturing, selling the land to his brother-in-law, who developed the

Binghamton Brick Yard in Binghamton, New York. With the proceeds, Allen and his mother,

Jennie Vining Allen, came to St. Petersburg in 1911. Allen quickly established a real estate

business utilizing penny postcards to advertise the business. Cade Allen, “The Man with the

Bargains,” opened an office at 510 Central Avenue, where the Plaza Theater would soon be built.

He was one of many new agents in the growing city. In 1912, real estate agents met at the Ridgely

Real Estate Company office to form the St. Petersburg Board of Realtors. By 1914, approximately

83 real estate companies operated in the city, capitalizing on the doubling of the local population

during the winter season. These winter residents even formed tourist societies organized by state

or region of origin which acted as booster clubs in their native states.9


	In 1912, Allen married his longtime Binghamton sweetheart, Eva Bennett, and brought her, along

with his sister and brother-in-law, Floyd Riggs, to St. Petersburg. Allen continued his real estate

business with his brother-in-law, opening an office at 73 7th Avenue North. In 1913, Allen built

his first house in St. Petersburg for his family at present-day 145 7th Avenue Northeast, where he

lived until 1916. In that year, he started purchasing land in Snell & Hamlett’s Crescent Lake

Subdivision. One of the lots included the house at 1492 4th Street North, which he remodeled and

moved into with his family.10
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	The Crescent Lake Subdivision was one of the developments spearheaded by C. Perry Snell. Snell,

who had arrived in St. Petersburg in 1904, proceeded to develop St. Petersburg’s earliest

subdivisions including Bay Shore, North Shore, Lake Side, and Crescent Lake in conjunction with

various partners. J.C. Hamlett, with whom he formed Snell and Hamlett Real Estate Company,

purchased Crescent Lake, the land immediately surrounding it, and the area to the east of the

lake in 1910. The land was transferred into the holdings of the company and subdivided into the

Crescent Lake Addition. The new subdivision, filed in 1911, extended from 12th Avenue to 22nd

Avenue North and from 4th Street to 7th Street North and included the area which would become

Crescent Lake Park.11


	In spite of a number of successful projects, the increasingly risky ventures and business interests

in other cities led Hamlett to dissolve the partnership in 1916 and transfer his interests to Snell

over the following three years. Cade Allen assembled a section of this land roughly located

between 13th and 17th Avenues and 4th and 5th Streets North. While still operating his real estate

office, the decline in the market due to the onset of World War I led Allen to open a truck farm

and dairy on his newly acquired land east of Crescent Lake.12


	The City’s administration started to formally encourage tourism with promotional campaigns

following the election of Al Lang as mayor in 1916. Lang was elected after he arranged to bring

the Philadelphia Phillies to the city for spring training. Under his leadership, the City publicly

encouraged tourism and made efforts to improve the physical appearance of the city mandating

that all of the benches in the city be painted green.13 Although the land boom collapsed during

World War I, the development created a pattern for the future growth of the city. During the

1910s, the city’s population grew from 4,127 in 1910 to 14,237 in 1920.14


	Although World War I limited tourism, St. Petersburg quickly rebounded following the war with

the winter season of 1918-1919 more profitable than before the war. Thanks in part to the efforts


	of John Lodwick, publicity agent for the Chamber of Commerce and the City of St. Petersburg,

the hotels and boarding houses were filled to capacity during the season.15
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	The construction of a national, state, and local road system opened St. Petersburg to an

increasing number of middle-class vacationers as well as a new type of vacationer known as “tin�can tourists.” This type of vacationer typically came by car and generally favored campgrounds

to hotels. The city’s shortage of hotel rooms led to the 1920 creation of Tent City, a municipal

campground for the “tin-can tourists.” This new type of tourist threatened the city’s established

hotel industry and was not the class of visitor the leaders of the city were interested in

attracting.16 With only five hotels providing fewer than 500 hotel rooms at the start of the boom,

city leaders were encouraged by the construction of mid-sized hotels, such as the Alexander

Hotel, the Mari-Jean, and the Hotel Cordova, and several large hotels, including the Princess

Martha, Pennsylvania Hotel, and Vinoy Park Hotel, during the boom.17


	The lack of hotel space and the booming economy during the late 1910s and early 1920s

prompted the conversion of a number of private residences immediately north of downtown into

boarding houses, apartment buildings, or small hotels. Many owners in this once residential

neighborhood north of downtown recognized the inevitable growth of the central business

district and built new houses farther north of downtown in the newly opened residential sections

now known as the Old Northeast, Round Lake, Uptown, Euclid/St. Paul, and Crescent Lake

neighborhoods.18


	In 1919, Snell, who was a strong supporter of a public park system, convinced the City to purchase

Crescent Lake and the surrounding 26 acres for a public park. Although the $30,000 would be

paid in installments through 1928, the City started improvements to the park immediately

including clearing brush around the lake, improving drainage, creating a municipal nursery, and

installing a baseball field in 1925. Initially known as the Crescent Lake Baseball Park, the field was

renamed the Huggins-Stengel Field and served as the training facility for the New York Yankees

from 1925 through 1961. The new homes in the subdivision and park amenities drew residents

to the Crescent Lake area during the boom. The opening of the Gandy Bridge to Tampa in 1924

further encouraged widespread development and construction extending north of downtown to

the bridge.19


	With the creation of Crescent Lake Park and the onset of the Florida Land Boom, Cade Allen

decided to sell his cattle and return to the construction and real estate development field. In

1920, Allen opened a real estate office with Harold Smith at 430 Central Avenue. In 1922, the

men purchased The Foster Grove, 135 acres formerly owned by William L. and Amanda Foster


	located along Euclid Boulevard North (renamed 9th Street N. in 1928 and now Dr. M.L. King Jr.

Street N). Euclid Boulevard, labeled as such on Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps as early as 1918,

was the northern extension of 9th Street situated north of 9th Avenue. The original development

of the town had focused on the intersection of Central Avenue and 9th Street, making the street

a major north-south corridor when new development spread north of the city in the late 1910s

and 1920s. By the early 1920s, the streetcar line extended along 9th Street/Euclid Boulevard

North to 34th Avenue, the southernmost boundary of the Allendale development, before turning

east toward the North Shore development. Cade Allen moved his family into the former Foster

residence just west of Euclid Boulevard and remodeled it (which now has an address of 3650

Foster Hill Drive).20
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	Allen and Smith retained engineer George F. Young to survey the land and, in 1923, filed the plat

for Allendale Terrace. Extending from present-day 34th to 38th Avenues North and 7th Street to

Haines Road, the subdivision incorporated a five-acre public park and soon featured brick streets,

granite curbs, and hexagon block sidewalks. Soon after, Allen bought Smith’s interest in the

subdivision, and moved his real estate office to 3649 Haines Road. In 1924, a new plat, Blocks 7-

13 of Allendale Terrace Subdivision, was filed for the area north of the original plat extending

from 7th Street to Euclid Blvd. and from 38th to 42nd Avenues North. Two years later, in 1926, the

final plat, designated as the Northwest Quarter of Allendale Terrace, was filed covering the area

from Euclid Boulevard to Haines Road and from 38th to 42nd Avenues North. Like the first plat,

the two later plats were drawn by the office of George F. Young, Civil and Landscape Engineers.


	Deed restrictions limited development to one residence, to cost no less than $10,000, and be

constructed in the “Spanish, Grecian, Moorish, Mission, Italian, Colonial or English types of

architecture.” Houses had to be built of masonry with at least one room on the second floor or a

high ceiling to give the appearance of a second story. As owner of the subdivision, he made all

new construction subject to his review and approval of building plans. Apartment buildings and

stores were prohibited.21
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	The first new home built in the neighborhood was located at 3410 Euclid Boulevard North.

Constructed of coquina rock quarried on Florida’s east coast, the house was an unusual

Mediterranean Revival style built of stone, tile, and stucco, a mixture which would characterize

most of Allen’s future construction. Across Euclid Boulevard, Allen completed a new house for

his family which was located at 3405 Euclid Boulevard North, but the family lived in it for only

about a year.22
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	Euclid Boulevard North (now 3601 Foster Hill Drive North), 1926. Courtesy of Burton Allen.
	 



	Figure
	In 1924, Allen initiated construction on another new house for his family located at 3600 Euclid

Boulevard North, which is the subject property (now with the address of 3601 Foster Hill Drive).

It was the third of six Allendale homes that the Allen family eventually occupied. When

constructed, it had six or seven rooms on the first floor and four bedrooms and three baths on

the second floor with an attached garage. Living quarters above the garage housed Mr. and Mrs.

Warren Hodges and their son, who worked for the Allens. Warren Hodges wrote his name with

the date of February 14, 1925 in the concrete driveway, possibly the date that the house was

substantially completed. During this period, Cade and Eva Allen, along with five other residents,

met in the Allen home and established the Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church. The eighth,

and final, child of Cade and Eva Allen was born in the house in November 1926. According to the

Allen family, the projecting granite stones at the corners of the house made for an afternoon of

fun “mountain climbing” to the second floor porch and roof. This ever present danger to her

children prompted Eva Allen to want to relocate. So Cade Allen built another new house at 944


	39th Avenue North for his family in 1928, where they lived until 1947. During the 1920s, Allen had

built 22 homes as well as the Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church.23
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	A relatively healthy tourist trade initially kept the local economy afloat following the downturn

of the real estate market in 1926 and the devastating hurricanes which damaged south Florida in

1926 and 1928. However, the crash of the stock market in 1929 kept the traveling public at home

during the ensuing national depression. A dismal tourist season during the winter of 1929-1930

led to business failures, mortgage foreclosures, and unemployment in the city. Every bank in the

city failed and closed by April 1931.24
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	In January 1928, real estate salesmen and auctioneers McLean-Rector & Scott advertised 3600

Euclid Boulevard North as the “Palatial Graystone Mansion” offering the “’Ultimate in Residential

Perfection.”25 The agents reported that several thousand visited during a week-long open house

in which the home was presented as a “model of modern building construction and furnishing.”26

With the decline in the real estate market, the house was still on the market the following year

but was briefly occupied by auctioneer Victor McLean of McLean-Rector & Scott. The house


	finally sold at auction in February 1929. Attorney and future judge Mervin Hilton lived in the

home in 1930 and 1931.27
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	By 1932, William Halls, Jr. and his wife, Hattie, owned the residence. The New York banker had

bought a winter residence at 1028 14th Avenue North in 1927. In 1933 and 1934, their local

attorney, Walter Wilson, rented 3600 9th Street North. After William Halls died in 1933, it appears

that his widow Hattie Halls owned the house and may have periodically lived in the house or

rented it to widow Edith Byron from 1937 through 1945. The house was advertised for sale in

1945.28


	Federal relief projects helped revive the local economy by the mid-1930s. Local projects included

the construction of Bay Pines Veterans’ Hospital, an addition to Albert Whitted Airport, Bartlett

Park, an addition to Mound Park City Hospital, a beach water system, a new city hall, the

construction of the U.S. Coast Guard Air Station near Bayboro Harbor, the North Shore sewer

system, a National Guard armory, and a new campus for the St. Petersburg Junior College. By

providing these kinds of projects throughout the nation, the New Deal agencies brought partial

economic recovery to residents of St. Petersburg as well as other cities. With an improved

financial outlook, tourists returned to St. Petersburg during the late-1930s.29


	Figure
	During the 1930s, Cade Allen continued to live in and develop the Allendale neighborhood.

Unlike many developers who went bust in the decline of the real estate market and Great

Depression, Cade Allen managed his development well, installing streets and improvements

without encumbering the land. As a result, he retained ownership of the parcels, sold a few, and

continued to build during the 1930s even though money was tight.30 Between 1930 and 1932,

Allen completed seven and sold eight homes in Allendale Terrace. At the height of the

Depression, however, he only completed and sold two homes from 1932 to 1936. As construction

resumed between 1937 and 1940, he built 16 homes.31


	Due to a doctrinal disagreement, Allen left Allendale Methodist Episcopal Church and joined

Central Presbyterian Church, where he built the new Sunday school class rooms in 1938. As his

sons finished school, they also joined the business, and the company became Cade B. Allen &

Sons, Designers and Builders. With the onset of World War II, all five of Cade Allen’s sons joined

the military. Due to gasoline rationing and limited building materials, little new construction

occurred during the war, but Cade Allen managed to keep his real estate office open.32


	Although tourism had rebounded to some extent by 1940, the activation of the military,

rationing, and travel restrictions of World War II severely curtailed St. Petersburg’s tourism based


	economy. Most of the city’s hotels and boarding houses remained empty during the winter of

1941-42. Realizing that the empty rooms could be an asset as military housing, city leaders

successfully lobbied the War Department for a military base. The opening of a technical services

training center for the Army Air Corps brought over ten thousand soldiers to the city during the

summer of 1942. The military leased almost every major hotel and many of the smaller hotels in

the city. Only the Suwannee Hotel and some of the smaller hotels and boarding houses were

open to civilian use. By the time the training center closed in July 1943, over 100,000 soldiers had

visited St. Petersburg. Although the training center closed, the United States Maritime Service

Bayboro Harbor Base, which trained merchant seamen, continued to grow, and eventually leased

four of the downtown hotels abandoned by the Army Air Corps. Other bases and support facilities

throughout the area brought thousands of soldiers to central Florida and the St. Petersburg

area.33
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	The city rapidly demilitarized following the war, and many veterans returned to St. Petersburg.

Among those returning, the Allen sons rejoined Cade B. Allen & Sons, which now offered “A

Complete Home Building Service.”34 The Great Depression and governmental restrictions during

the war led to a housing shortage following World War II. Many hotels and boarding houses were

again filled with tourists and new residents awaiting the construction of new homes. In 1957,

Cade Allen retired and passed the family business over to his sons. He died in 1959.


	Throughout the 1950s and 1960s in St. Petersburg, new houses filled the subdivisions platted

during the 1920s, but left vacant by the real estate decline and the Great Depression. As

development spread westward, the introduction of shopping centers, including Central Plaza and

Tyrone Gardens Shopping Center, and motels along the west coast drew new residents and

tourists away from downtown St. Petersburg.35 During the 1960s, downtown and the

neighborhoods surrounding the city core entered a period of decline and abandonment. Many

of the buildings associated with the early history of the community slowly deteriorated until

reinvestment and preservation revived the area during the 1990s.


	Subject Property Background


	The subject property is located in the neighborhood now known as Central Oak Park. The area

was first platted in 1924 as No. 4 of the Oak Ridge development, an area developed by Percy A.

Page.36 Page was the son of prominent Virginia real estate mogul Herman Lawrence Page.37 The

Page family began wintering in St. Petersburg in the early 1920s. Unfortunately, like many other

neighborhoods first platted during the 1920s land boom, Oak Ridge was sparsely developed until


	after the Great Depression, when St. Petersburg experienced its second building boom during

the mid-20th century.


	The property appears to have remained vacant until 1941, when Dr. William Homer Axford and

Ethel Murphy Axford hired Cade Allen and Sons to construct a new house at 4705 5th Ave N. This

is one of only a dozen or so homes built by Cade Allen outside of Allendale.38
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	Born in 1874, W. Homer Axford was a medical doctor and a pioneer in X-ray technology. He also

served as mayor of Bayonne, New Jersey from 1919 to 1923 and then Director of Public Affairs

until his retirement in 1930 due to health issues.39


	The Axfords spent six winter seasons in St. Petersburg before moving down full time because of

Dr. Axford's ill health.40 Unfortunately, Dr. Axford only lived in the house for six months until his

death on September 17, 1942. He was only 68 years old. Ethel Axford remained in their home

until her death at age 82 on June 6, 1960.


	Subsequent owner J. Earle Brown constructed a flat-roofed carport onto the side of the existing

garage in the rear yard in 1961, which was enclosed by the following owner Willard Russell in

1965. This alteration is considered to be non-contributing to the property’s historic significance,

but are nonetheless relatively set back from the subject property’s façade and do not detract

from the historic design.


	Primary Character-Defining Features


	• One story, U-shaped main massing with an enclosed breezeway attachment to garage,


	• One story, U-shaped main massing with an enclosed breezeway attachment to garage,


	• One story, U-shaped main massing with an enclosed breezeway attachment to garage,



	• House situated among spacious greenspace with large setbacks to create scenic views,


	• House situated among spacious greenspace with large setbacks to create scenic views,



	• Modified ranch style home with barrel tile roof,


	• Modified ranch style home with barrel tile roof,



	• Low-pitched hipped roof,


	• Low-pitched hipped roof,



	• Open front patio with large picture window,


	• Open front patio with large picture window,



	• Boxed eaves on main house and exposed decorative rafter tails on garage,


	• Boxed eaves on main house and exposed decorative rafter tails on garage,



	• Entryway with tiled steps and flooring, single-action wood door with decorative wrought

iron gate,


	• Entryway with tiled steps and flooring, single-action wood door with decorative wrought

iron gate,



	• Stuccoed masonry walls with entryway with gray stone veneer exterior applied in a

random ashlar pattern,


	• Stuccoed masonry walls with entryway with gray stone veneer exterior applied in a

random ashlar pattern,



	• Crab orchard sandstone chimney and fireplace with surrounding niches for candlesticks,


	• Crab orchard sandstone chimney and fireplace with surrounding niches for candlesticks,



	• Double-hung wood windows with horizontal two-over-two lights,


	• Double-hung wood windows with horizontal two-over-two lights,



	• Shouldered arched fenestrations in enclosed front porch,


	• Shouldered arched fenestrations in enclosed front porch,



	• Tiled windowsills with curved walls,


	• Tiled windowsills with curved walls,



	• Wood flooring and cove ceilings, and


	• Wood flooring and cove ceilings, and



	• Bathrooms with original pink and blue tile, fixtures, and consoles.


	• Bathrooms with original pink and blue tile, fixtures, and consoles.




	Alterations


	The subject property retains remarkable historic integrity, however, all buildings evolve

somewhat over time. The front porch on the eastern portion of the house was enclosed at an

unknown date. Even though it was enclosed, the windows added match the existing two-over�two windows, so the visual impact is minimal. The subject property is able to convey its historic

significance despite these minor changes.


	PROPERTY OWNER CONSENT AND IMPACT OF DESIGNATION


	The proposed local landmark designation was submitted and is supported by the subject

property’s owners, John Evans and Michael Labbe.


	The benefits of designation include increased heritage tourism through the maintenance of the

historic character and significance of the city, some relief from the requirements of the Florida

Building Code and FEMA regulations, and tax incentives, such as the local ad valorem tax

exemption and federal tax credit for qualified rehabilitation projects. The owners intend to take

advantage of the ad valorem tax exemption for an upcoming rehabilitation project.


	CONSISTENCY WITH ST. PETERSBURG’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, EXISTING LAND USE PLAN, AND

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN


	The proposed local historic landmark designation is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive

Plan, relating to the protection, use and adaptive reuse of historic buildings. The local landmark

designation will not affect the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) or zoning designations, nor will it

significantly constrain any existing or future plans for the development of the City. The proposed

landmark designation is consistent with the following objectives:


	Objective LU10: The historic resources locally designated by the St. Petersburg City Council and

Community Planning and Preservation Commission (CPPC) shall be

incorporated onto the Land Use Map or map series at the time of original

adoption, or through the amendment process, and protected from

development and redevelopment activities consistent with the provisions of

the Historic Preservation Element and the Historic Preservation Ordinance.


	Policy LU10.1: Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on the

criteria and policies outlined in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and the

Historic Preservation Element of the Comprehensive Plan.


	Policy HP2.3: The City shall provide technical assistance to applications for designation of

historic structures and districts.


	Policy HP2.6: Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on

National Register eligibility criteria and policies outlined in the Historic

Preservation Ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan. The City will use the

following selection criteria [for city initiated landmark designations] as a

guideline for staff recommendations to the CPC and City Council:


	• National Register or DOE status
	• Prominence/importance related to the City


	• Prominence/importance related to the neighborhood


	• Degree of threat to the landmark


	• Condition of the landmark


	• Degree of owner support


	RECOMMENDATION


	Staff recommends approval of the request to designate the Axford House, located at 4705 5th

Avenue North, as a local historic landmark, thereby referring the application to City Council for

first and second reading and public hearing.
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